NOV 10 1997

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chie/Deputy Clerk

Defendant/Petitioner

vs.

91**/7**17 CASE NO.:

CTC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, INC. and GREGORY UZDEVENES,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. 96-2976

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

MICHAEL D. HOOK

Florida Bar Number 309826

CHARLES F. BEALL, JR.

Florida Bar Number 66494

MOORE, HILL, WESTMORELAND,

HOOK & BOLTON, P.A.

220 West Garden Street - Suite 900

Post Office Box 1792

Pensacola, Florida 32598-1792

Telephone: (850) 434-3541 Fax Number: (850) 435-7899

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Gregory Uzdevenes, through his construction company, CTC Development Corporation, Inc. (collectively "CTC") designed and built a house for John and Annette Bray. App. 2.' As constructed by CTC, the house was located some four feet beyond a set back line in violation of restrictive covenants. The adjoining landowners filed suit against CTC and others seeking injunctive relief and compensatory damages. Uzdevenes and CTC demanded that Petitioner, State Farm Fire and Casualty Company ("State Farm") defend and indemnify them in the lawsuit as a result of a "Contractor's Policy" that was in effect between CTC and State Farm. State Farm declined coverage. After settling the underlying lawsuit, CTC and Uzdevenes filed this suit against State Farm. App. 2-3.

State Farm moved for summary judgment on the grounds that the injury caused to the adjoining landowners was not an "occurrence" within the terms of the insurance policy between CTC and State Farm. The trial court granted State Farm's motion and entered Summary Final Judgment against CTC. App. 4. CTC appealed the decision to the First District Court of Appeal, and the District Court reversed the trial court in a September 26, 1997 Opinion. App. 1-11. State Farm filed a timely motion for rehearing, which was denied without opinion on October 3, 1997. App. 12. The Petitioner's notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on October 31, 1997.

[&]quot; App. " refers to the numbered page in Petitioner's Appendix, which is attached to this brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Hardware Mut. Cas. Co. v. Gerrits, 65 So.2d 69 (Fla. 1953), this Court held that a builder's construction of a building over a permissible boundary line did not constitute an "accident" for purposes of insurance coverage. The facts of this case are substantially identical to those in Hardware Mutual. Despite the factual similarities between the two cases, however, the District Court expressly declined to follow Hardware Mutual and instead elected to follow one of its own decisions, Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins, Co., 610 So.2d 1299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev. denied, 621 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1993), a case with markedly different facts from both this case and Hardware Mutual. The District Court elected to follow Grissom, rather than Hardware Mutual, not because it could meaningfully distinguish Hardware Mutual, but because it mistakenly believe that it was bound to follow Grissom under the doctrine of stare decisis.

This Court has held that a decision expressly and directly conflicts with a prior decision from this Court when the decision reaches a different result from the prior Supreme Court case despite having substantially the same controlling facts. Because the District Court's decision in this case produced a different result on virtually the same facts as this Court's decision in Hardware Mutual, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the District Court decision. Accordingly, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and decide this case on the merits.

ARGUMENT

The Decision of the First District Court of Appeal Expressly and Directly Conflicts with the Decision of This Court in <u>Hardware Mut. Cas. Co. v. Gerrits</u>, 65 So.2d 69 (Fla. 1953).

In Hardware Mut. Cas. Co. v. Gerrits, 65 So.2d 69 (Fla. 1953), this Court held that a builder's construction of a building over a permissible boundary line did not constitute an "accident" for purposes of insurance coverage. The Hardware Mutual decision has stood, virtually unchallenged, for more than 40 years. The First District Court of Appeal below, however, expressly declined to follow the Hardware Mutual decision and instead elected to follow its own decision in Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 610 So.2d 1299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev. denied, 621 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1993), a case with markedly different facts from both this case and Hardware Mutual. By following its own decision rather than a controlling decision from this Court, the District Court misapplied the doctrine of stare decisis and created an express and direct conflict with this Court's decision in Hardware Mutual. This Court, therefore, has jurisdiction to review the District Court decision. See Art. V, § 3(b) (3), Fla. Const.

This Court has held that it possesses jurisdiction to review a district court decision based upon an express and direct conflict when the District Court decision involves "the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case disposed of by this Court." Nielsen v. City of

State, 596 So.2d 447, 449 (Fla. 1992) (Court had jurisdiction to review decision which reached opposite result from another decision despite similar controlling facts). The underlying facts of the cases need not be "virtually identical" as long as the cases cannot be meaningfully distinguished. See, e.g., Crossley, 596 So.2d at 449 (finding conflict even though controlling facts were not "virtually identical"); Mobley v. State, 143 So.2d 821, 823 (Fla. 1962) (finding conflict when the factual distinctions between the cases were "superficial").

Here, because even the District Court could not meaningfully distinguish this case from Hardware Mutual, the decisions are in direct conflict. In Hardware Mutual, a builder constructed a building so that it encroached upon a neighbor's property line. Hardware Mutual, 65 So.2d at 70. The neighbor sued for damages and the case ultimately settled. The builder's insurance company denied all liability, claiming that the decision to construct the building where it was located was not an "accident" within the terms of the builder's liability insurance policy. The builder subsequently filed suit against the insurance company seeking a declaratory judgment that the construction of the building was an accident. The trial court entered judgment in favor of the builder. Id. at 70.

This Court reversed. The Court held that the location of the building was not an accident, but rather was based upon a mistake of fact. According to the Court, "[a]n effect which is the natural and probable consequence of an act or course of

action is not an *accident."* <u>Id</u>. at 70. (emphasis in original).

Because the builder "deliberately and designedly (although erroneously) located the building" where it was ultimately constructed, the Court held that the builder's actions did not meet the plain meaning of an "accident." <u>Id</u>. at 71. Accordingly, this Court held that the builder's actions were not covered by his liability insurance policy. <u>Id</u>.

As demonstrated by the District Court's own opinion, the controlling facts of this case are substantially identical. In both cases, the builder intentionally constructed the building in a particular location, but in both cases the buildings were mistakenly located outside of a permissible boundary line. App. 2; Hardware Mutual, 65 So.2d at 70-71. In both instances, the builders were sued by neighbors, the builders settled the suits, and the builders in turn sued their insurance companies for indemnification. App. 2-3; Hardware Mutual, 65 So.2d at 70. Finally, as the District Court expressly recognized in its Opinion, there was no "meaningful difference" between the language contained in the various insurance policies in question. App. 5.

In <u>Hardware Mutual</u>, the building was constructed so that it encroached upon a neighbor's property line, while in this case the building encroached upon a set off line mandated by a restrictive covenant. The difference, however, is immaterial. In both **cases**, the construction crossed permissible boundary lines, thereby causing damage to neighbors. <u>See Moblev v. State</u>, 143 So.2d 821, 823 (Fla. 1962) (Supreme Court jurisdiction not defeated by "superficial" distinctions).

Despite the striking similarities between this case and Hardware Mutual, the District Court declined to follow Hardware Mutual and instead followed Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 610 So.2d 1299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev. denied, 621 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1993). The facts in Grissom, however, are completely distinguishable from those in this case (and Hardware Mutual) . In Grissom, a property owner allegedly "intentionally filled and elevated a natural watercourse across his land." Id. at 1301. As a result of his actions, water allegedly backed up and flooded The trustees of the church sued a neighboring church. Id. Grissom sought a defense and indemnification from his insurer, but the insurer declined coverage. Grissom ultimately sued his insurance company. In reversing a final judgment in favor of the insurer, the First District Court of Appeal held that Grissom's actions constituted an "occurrence" because his actions caused "an unexpected or unintended injury or damage." Id. at 1306.

The District Court below made no effort to distinguish this case from Hardware Mutual or to reconcile the facts of this case to those in Grissom. Instead, the sole reason the District Court elected to follow Grissom was "because of the requirements of stare decisis." App. 5. Contrary to the District Court's holding, however, when a District Court decision is arguably inconsistent with a prior decision from this Court, stare decisis requires the District Court to follow the decision from this

Court. <u>See State v. Dwyer</u>, 332 So.2d 333, 335 (Fla. 1976)

("[w]here an issue has been decided in the Supreme Court of the state, the lower courts are bound to adhere to the Court's ruling when considering similar issues, even though the court might believe that the law should be otherwise"); Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431, 434 (Fla. 1973) (District Courts are "bound to follow the case law set forth by this Court").

This Court, therefore, should exercise its discretion to accept jurisdiction and review this case on the merits for at least two reasons. First, the District Court decision in this case, if allowed to stand, directly conflicts with a prior decision of this Court on an important issue regarding insurance coverage. Second, because the District Court incorrectly applied the doctrine of stare decisis in reaching its decision, this Court should quash the District Court decision to avoid almost certain confusion from the District and trial courts on this issue.

CONCLUSION

Because the District Court in this case reached a different result in this case from the result reached by this Court in Hardware Mutual, a case with substantially the same controlling facts, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the District Court decision. This Court, therefore, should exercise

its discretionary jurisdiction, reaffirm the holding in Hardware
Mutual, and quash the District Court decision.