STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 91,717

CTC DEVELOPMENT CORP., INC. and GREGORY UZDEVENES, DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT, NO. 96-02976

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON JURISDICTION

LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM Florida Bar Number 194435 Louis K. Rosenbloum, P.A. One Pensacola Plaza, Suite 212 125 West Romana Street Pensacola, FL 32501 (850) 436-7707

STEPHEN H. ECHSNER
Florida Bar Number 304719
Levin, Middlebrooks, Thomas,
Mitchell, Green, Ecshner,
Proctor & Papantonio, P.A.
Post Office Box 12308
Pensacola, FL 32501
(850) 435-7118

Attorneys for Respondents

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondents, CTC Development Corporation and Gregory Uzdevenes, accept petitioner's statement of the case and facts. Copies of the following decisions are appended to the brief:

<u>crc Dev. Corp. v. State Farm Fire and</u> <u>Cas. Co.</u>, Case No. 96-2976 (Fla. 1st DCA August 26, 1997) Tab 1

<u>Hardware Mut. Cas. Co. v. Gerrits</u>, 65 So. 2d Tab 2 69 (Fla. 1953)

<u>Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.,</u> 610 So. Tab 3 2d 1299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), <u>rev. denied</u>, 621 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1993).

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the decision of the district court of appeal below expressly and directly conflicts with this court's decision in <u>Hardware Mut. Cas. Co. v. Gerrit</u>s, 65 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 1953), on the same question of law

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because the controlling language contained in the insurance policy in the decision subject to review differs materially from the policy language found in <u>Hardware Mut</u>, <u>Cas. Co. v. Gerrits</u>, 65 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 1953), the present decision does not expressly and directly conflict with <u>Gerrits</u>.

ARGUMENT

The jurisdiction of this court is strictly defined by Article V of the Florida Constitution. Lawvers Title Ins. Corp. v. Little River Bank & Trust Co., 243 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1970). Article V limits this court's `conflict" jurisdiction to decisions of the district courts of appeal "that expressly and <u>directly</u> conflict[] with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Art. V, § 3(b) (3), Fla. Const. (emphasis supplied). As the constitution clearly indicates, jurisdictional conflict must be express and direct, not inferential or implied. See Desartment of Health & Rehab. Services v. National Adoption Counseling Services, Inc., 498 so. 2d 888 (Fla. 1986); Reaves v, State, 485 2d 829 (Fla. 1986). When the controlling facts of the so. decision subject to review differ materially from the controlling facts of the decision cited for conflict, jurisdictional conflict is not established. cf. Nielsen v. Citv of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960) (conflict jurisdiction can be predicated on "the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves **substantially** the same **controlling** facts as a prior case disposed of by this **Court.")(emphasis** supplied).

Although the underlying factual scenarios found in <u>Hardware</u> <u>Mut. Cas. Co. v. Gerrits</u>, 65 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 1953), and the present case are substantially the same, the respective insurance policy provisions which controlled the outcome of the two cases

differ markedly, eliminating jurisdictional conflict. In <u>Gerrits</u>, the insured building contractor erected a structure that encroached upon adjacent property based on a surveyor's error. The adjoining property owner sued the building contractor who was forced to pay damages. The building contractor was covered by an insurance policy which provided liability coverage for bodily injury or property damage 'caused by an accident." The insured called upon his liability insurer to pay the damages, but the insurer denied coverage, contending that the damages were not the result of an 'accident."

The <u>Gerrits</u> opinion does not disclose any policy provisions that defined the critical terminology "caused by accident." In the absence of a contractual definition of the word "accident" or other guidance from the policy, this court resorted to common law tort principles to hold that although the contractor had not intended to cause harm to the adjoining property owner by mistakenly erecting the structure beyond the property line, his conduct was nonetheless intentional and therefore could not be classified as an "accident":

> Assuming that the surveyor made a mistake in locating the boundary line and that the Plaintiff relied on the erroneous survey, nevertheless the fact Plaintiff constructed his building so that it encroached upon the adjoining lot cannot be termed an accident. When a person understands facts to be other than they are and is free from negligence, a "mistake of fact" occurs. <u>An effect which is</u> the natural and probable <u>consequence of an</u> act or course of action is not an <u>accident</u>. The effect which was the natural **and** probable

conseo-uence of the Plaintiff's act in erecting the building was **the** encroachment on the adjoining **property**. This is true whether the Plaintiff knew the facts as they were or understood them to be other than they were. The result or effect would be the same.

<u>Gerrits</u>, 65 So. 2d at 71 (italic's the court's; underlining supplied). In other words, in the absence of policy language to the contrary, this court applied the common law standard which holds a **party** responsible for the natural and probable consequences of his conduct irrespective of specific intent to cause harm. <u>See Spivey v. Battaglia</u>, 258 So. 2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1972)("The settled law is that a defendant becomes liable for reasonably foreseeable consequences, though the exact results and damages were not contemplated.").

In the present case, the insured architect and building contractor located and erected a structure which encroached upon a set back line established by subdivision restrictive covenants which precipitated a damage suit brought against the insureds by the adjoining property owner. <u>CTC Dev. Corp.</u>, slip op. at 2. In contrast to the <u>Gerrits</u> insurance policy, the policy issued by petitioner to respondents, which provided liability coverage for the incident sued upon, adequately defined the scope of the insured's conduct which triggered coverage in terms which produced a different result from the result obtained in <u>Gerrits</u>. The district court's opinion discusses and quotes the pertinent policy language:

Under the policy, the "Comprehensive Business Liability" coverage obligates the insurer to:

pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of bodily injury, property damage, personal injury or advertising injury to which this insurance applies. . . . This insurance applies only:

1. <u>to bodily injury or property damage</u> <u>caused by an occurrence</u> which takes place in the coverage territory during the policy period.

"Occurrence" is defined in the policy as follows:

a. <u>an accident</u>, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the **same general** harmful conditions which result in **bodily injury** or **property damage**;

* * *

The term 'accident" is not defined in the policy. The policy contains the following exclusions, among others, stating that <u>business liability does</u> <u>not apply:</u>

1. to bodily injury or property damage:

a. <u>expected</u> or intended from the <u>standpoint of the insured</u>; or

b. to any person or property which is the result of willful and malicious acts of the insured.

<u>CTC Dev. Corp.</u>, slip op. at 3-4 (bold type the court's, indicating that defined terms are printed in the policy in bold type; underlining supplied).

When construing a policy to determine coverage, every provision should be given meaning and effect and the pertinent provisions should be read *in pari materia*. <u>See</u> <u>Praetorians v.</u>

Fisher, 89 So. 2d 329 (Fla. 1956); Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins, Co. v. Olah, 662 So, 2d 980 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); American Employers' <u>Ins. Co. v. **Taylor**</u>, **476 So.** 2d 281 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. dismissed, 485 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 1985). Reading the above-quoted insuring clause, definition of "occurrence" and exclusions in pari materia, the policy at bar covers the insured for bodily injury or property damage resulting from an "accident" or "occurrence" neither 'expected [n]or intended from the standpoint of the insured." (emphasis supplied). This construction of the policy is virtually identical to the policy language found in Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co,, 610 So. 2d 1299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev. denied, 621 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1993), upon which the court below relied, where the policy defined "occurrence" as "'an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to conditions, which results in bodily injury or property damage neither expected nor intended from the **standpoint** of the insured '" Grissom, 610 So. 2d at 1304 (emphasis supplied). Based on the similarity in policy language, the district court below felt constrained by stare decisis to follow Grissom and further held "that the result reached here is an acceptable one considering the terms and language of the insurance policy at issue." CTC Dev. <u>Corp.</u>, slip op. at 5.

Construing the insurance policy definition of "occurrence," the <u>Grissom</u> court concluded that the policy term "accident" included "an unexpected or unintended injury or damage that

results from a known cause." <u>Grissom</u>, 610 So. 2d at 1306. This result, based entirely on policy language rather than common law tort principles, yields an entirely different result from that reached in <u>Gerrits</u> because it allows coverage for <u>intentional</u> acts which result in <u>unintended</u> consequences. <u>See Prudential</u> <u>Property & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Swindal</u>, 622 So. 2d 467 (Fla. 1993) (intentional injury exclusion in homeowner's policy did not exclude coverage for bodily injuries sustained where although insured committed an intentional act intending to cause fear, bodily injuries were caused accidentally and were not expected or intended by insured to result).

In short, in the absence of definitive policy language, the scope of the coverage provided in <u>Gerrits</u> was determined based on common law tort principles, while the present decision and <u>Grissom</u>, on the other hand, were based on construction of insurance contracts which sufficiently defined the scope of coverage without resort to sources outside the four corners of the policies. Therefore, because the case at bar and <u>Grissom</u> are based on different policy language and rationale, they are factually distinguishable from <u>Gerrits</u> and, in fact, are entirely consistent with the long-standing rule recognized by this court "that tort law principles do not control judicial construction of insurance contracts." Prudential Prorsertv & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Swindal, 622 So. 2d at 470.

Respondents acknowledge the following statement made below in the district court's majority opinion:

We would also point out, however, that notwithstanding the explanation set out in <u>Grissom</u>, we do not agree that there is a meaninqful difference in the policy in Grissom and those provisions set out involved in <u>Hardware Mut</u>. <u>Casualty</u> Co. v. <u>Gerrits</u>, 65 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 1953). We cannot state that there is meaningful difference in language between an 'accident" and an 'occurrence" defined as an "accident."

CTC Dev. Corp., slip op. at 5. This observation made by the district court was neither essential nor necessary to the decision and therefore represents dicta that cannot function as binding precedent. See Continental Assur. Co. v. Carroll, 485 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1986) ; State v. Florida State Improvement Comm'n, 60 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 1952). In that respect, this court expressly declined to accept jurisdiction based has on purportedly conflicting language contained in the district court's opinion which is "mere obiter dicta." See Ciongoli v. The rationale of <u>State,</u> 337 so. 2d 780, 781 (Fla. 1976). <u>Cionsoli</u> is strengthened considerably by the language of the 1980 amendment to Article V which requires "direct" and "express" conflict to support jurisdiction. See Department of Health & Rehab. Services v. National Adoption Counseling Services, Inc., 498 So. 2d at 889 (so-called "inferential" or "implied" conflict

no longer serves as basis for supreme court jurisdiction after 1980 amendment to Article V).¹

CONCLUSION

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate express and direct conflict and its petition for review should be denied.